FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/19/2018 3:30 PM

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 96340-1

Court of Appeals No. 351408-III

JONATHAN O. JOHNS, individually, and DAVID W. LYNCH and JENNIFER LYNCH, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS and COYOTE RIDGE CORRECTION CENTER,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Sheldon, WSBA #32851 Douglas R. Dick, WSBA #46519 Phillabaum Ledlin Matthews & Sheldon, PLLC 1235 North Post Street, Suite 100 Spokane, Washington 99201 (509) 838-6055

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER			
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR REVIEW			
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW			
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V. ARGUMENT 8			
A. Grounds that qualify a case for review			
B. Standard of review for summary judgment decisions 9			
C. The Court of Appeals ruling impairs an employee's			
statutory right to file a lawsuit under the IIA and allows			
employers to avoid liability for employee injuries if a			
human actor is involved in the injury			
D. The Court of Appeals committed error by expanding the			
ruling in Vallandigham to preclude claims involving a			
human actor and limiting actions to cases involving			
chemicals like <i>Birklid</i>			
E. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to consider facts in the			
light most favorable to the non-moving party and ignoring			
relevant facts			
VI. CONCLUSION			
APPENDIX - Court of Appeals Decision			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Birklid v. Boeing Co.,
Brame v. W. State Hosp
Highline School District No. 401 v. Port of Seattle
Lybbert v. Grant County,
Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage,
Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage11
Perry v. Beverage,11
Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400 11-14, 16
REGULATIONS
WAC 137-25-020
<u>STATUTES</u>
RCW 51.04 10
RCW 51.24.020
RULES
CR 56
RAP 13 4(b)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Johnathan Johns, David Lynch and Jennifer Lynch.

They are the plaintiffs in an action initiated against defendants State of

Washington Department of Corrections (DOC) and Coyote Ridge

Corrections Center (CRCC).

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR REVIEW

Plaintiff-Petitioners seek review of the July 10, 2018 unpublished opinion¹, of the Court of Appeals, Division Three, reversing the trial court's denial of DOC's summary judgment motion. Appendix, pp. 1-8.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does the Court of Appeals ruling impair an employee's statutory right to file a lawsuit under the Industrial Insurance Act and allow employers to avoid liability for injuries to employees if a human actor's exercise of volitional control is involved?
- (2) Did the Court of Appeals commit error by expanding the rulings in *Vallandigham* to find that the certainty prong of the *Birklid* test cannot be met where a human actor exercises volitional control over his

¹Defendants filed a Motion to Publish on July 27, 2018. The motion was denied on August 21, 2018.

actions and human behavior simply does not follow immutable laws of chemistry such as the formaldehyde resin at issue in *Birlkid*?

and conclude that under the Industrial Insurance Act (IIA) an employer cannot be held responsible for the injuries suffered by employees because a human actor has the ability to exercise volitional control when the DOC knew about direct and specific threats to harm employees made by a life without parole inmate with a propensity for violence, who previously assaulted employees, who was disqualified from all DOC facilities except CRCC, whose transfer was objected to by employees, and who did not meet the employers' own threat assessment standards for placement at CRCC? And did the Court of Appeals commit error by failing to consider these facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs Johnathan Johns and David Lynch worked as corrections officers at the Coyote Ridge Correction Center (CRCC) when they were violently attacked by inmates Schawn Cruze and David Kopp. Kopp was serving a 240 month sentence for second degree murder. Cruze was serving a term of life in prison after a 1997 persistent offender sentence following conviction for Assault in the Second Degree. CP 34-43. Cruze

had a history of staff manipulation, and assaults² on both staff and offenders and had received mor than 50 serious infractions prior to assaulting Plaintiffs. CP at 60-64.

On September 11, 2012, Cruze and Kopp were notified they would no longer be cell mates and were being assigned to new quarters with new cell mates. Angered by the change, Cruze grabbed a wooden-handled mop and a plastic-handled brush from an unlocked broom closet. He gave the mop to Kopp. They walked up behind a workstation where Officer Johns was working and started hitting him. Johns received blows to the back and sides of his head.

Johns retreated into a hallway and other officers began engaging the combative inmates. Sergeant Lynch arrived and was hit by Cruze several times. Additional officers arrived to subdue the inmates and put an end to the altercation.

Johns and Lynch filed suit against DOC, claiming that the IIA immunity did not extend to this incident because DOC had deliberately

²Respondent continually uses the term "non-injury assaults" which is disingenuous as their definition of "non-injury" hinges on whether or not the victim of the assault was required to be treated in a medical facility. See WAC 137-25-020. Individuals can be injured in an assault and still not be required to be treated in a medical facility.

injured them by placing Cruze at CRCC when he was not qualified to be in a medium custody facility.

DOC utilizes a custody review to evaluate and identify risks to staff and offenders. CP 273. Offenders with scores between 0 and 39 are housed in maximum custody or close custody; 40 and 55 in medium custody facilities; 56 and above are housed in minimum custody facilities. *Id*.

On July 7, 2012, Offender Cruze had a custody score of 37 points, equating to close custody. CP at 304-305. Cruze had been placed in Administrative Segregation pending an investigation at Washington State Penitentiary into suspected/possible concerns of staff manipulation and staff compromise in a close custody setting. *Id.* On July 25, 2012, his custody score unexplainedly increased to 40 points. CP at 307-308. The DOC claims Cruze's score was miscalculated, but that they would have provided an override regardless of his score to send him to CRCC. CP at 311.

On July 25, 2012, Timothy Thrasher, Chief of Investigative

Operations with DOC, e-mailed numerous staff stating that he had talked with Scott Frakes, Deputy Director of DOC, and recommended Offender

Cruze be transferred to CRCC, a medium custody facility. CP at 314-319.

This information was passed onto Correctional Unit Supervisor Pete Caples who was in charge of E-Unit where Cruze was to be transferred. CP at 314.

After seeing Cruze's extensive violent history, Caples had serious concerns about Cruze being placed in a medium custody unit. CP at 299. Other staff at CRCC, including custody and classification staff, objected to his transfer because it was clear that Cruze should not be transferred to medium custody due to his perpetual failure to successfully complete programming, his extensive infraction history, and his extensive violent behavior. CP at 269-270. Cruze was non-compliant at higher custody levels, with higher security and less access to staff. CP at 270. Placement in medium custody would give him far more freedom of movement and much more access to staff. *Id.* Caples shared his concerns with his supervisors Sean Murphy, Rick Carter, and Kevin Bowen. CP at 299-301.

Kevin Bowen worked at DOC headquarters over classification. CP at 295. His responsibility was to build transfer orders for offenders. *Id.*Kevin Bowen agreed with Caples that Cruze should not be placed in medium custody. CP at 299-301. Kevin Bowen wrote to Timothy Thrasher sharing his objection and suggested Cruze be assigned maximum custody until he could be sent out of state. CP at 317-319. Kevin Bowen succinctly

summarized his concerns with Cruze: "He was infracted/found guilty of fighting with another offender as recently as 03/23/12. He was also found guilty of 717³ for this incident as a use of force was required due to his refusal to stop fighting. On 06/08/2010 he was infracted and found guilty of WAC 550 (Escape attempt) and 554 (destruction of state property) when he became actively combative with staff on a special transport from SCCC to CBCC. I understand he did quite a bit of damage to the state vehicle. These infractions combined with his LWOP status and STG⁴ complications — make me extremely reluctant to recommend medium custody. I am giving more consideration for an IMS referral to assign Maximum custody pending [out-of-state] transfer because he has no custody appropriate viable options here." CP at 317.

Cruze had prior history of acting out when being asked to move cells. CP at 321-322. Cruze also has a documented history of violence.

Officers at another facility were so concerned about Cruze's violence that in anticipation of him hearing he was being terminated from programing, they decided to place him in restraints prior to the meeting. CP at 324-325.

³Causing a threat of injury to another person by resisting orders, resisting assisted movement or physical efforts to restrain - See CP at 63.

⁴Security Threat Group

When the staff attempted to put him in restraints he resisted and was infracted. *Id*. Cruze's violent history is also documented in the excessive number of serious infractions he has accrued during incarceration. CP at 60-64.

Cruze made numerous and repeated threats to harm staff. Cruze's infraction record shows that he was infracted for making threats at least 10 times. CP at 60-64. In April of 2012, Timothy Thrasher was aware that Cruze had threatened to strangle corrections officers "just like Biendel at Monroe⁵". CP at 327-329. Deputy Director Scott Frakes documented that in May of 2012, Cruze was making threats to harm staff when he got the opportunity. CP at 331. On September 7, 2012, Psych Associate Trisha Whitman-Winchester noted Cruze's intense emotions were dangerous coupled with possible perception that DOC staff, at even entry levels, are conspiring to keep him from his mother. CP at 333.

Neither the April 5, 2012 threat nor the May, 2012 were documented by Thrasher or Frakes in Cruze's records. See CP at 60-64. However, these threats were specifically made aware to the two

⁵Jayme Biendel was a Corrections Officer who was strangled to death on January 29, 2011 by an inmate in the prison chapel at Monroe Correctional Complex.

individuals who provided the authorization to transfer Cruze to medium custody. Neither of the threats were discussed with CRCC employees when Cruze was transferred to a medium security facility.

Thrasher knew that employees should be warned about Cruze and knew that all staff would not see the warnings. CP at 314. He stated, "I am also going to do a chrono entry documenting his behavior, however, I know all staff will not see it." Id. (emphasis added). The DOC report following the violent assault determined that classification staff were aware of the issues surrounding Offender Cruze, including behavior history and precautions, however this information was not passed down to unit custody staff. CP at 351.

Despite the warnings and objections, Timothy Thrasher and Scott Frakes pushed through the transfer. CP at 317. Cruze arrived at CRCC in mid August of 2012 and attacked officers within a month of arriving. CP at 302.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Grounds that qualify a case for review.

The Supreme Court will accept a case for review only if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, involves a significant question of law under the state or federal constitution, the

decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, or the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). This case satisfies all four grounds for review. The State of Washington Department of Corrections agrees that this case is a matter of general public interest⁶.

B. Standard of review for summary judgment decisions.

Appellate courts review a summary judgment order de novo.

Highline School District No. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wash.2d 6, 15, 548

P.2d 1085 (1976). Summary judgment is only appropriate if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). When considering a summary judgment motion, and on appellate review, the court must construe all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). At summary judgment, Plaintiffs need not prove certainty and are required only to raise genuine issues of material fact. CR 56(c).

⁶DOC moved to publish the Court of Appeal's decision stating "The Court's opinion is a matter of general public interest because of the number of individuals employed by DOC, and the number of locations across the state where DOC provides employment; the opinion also clarifies an established principle of law regarding application fo the "deliberate intention" standard in cases brought by employees against employers..."

C. The Court of Appeals ruling impairs an employee's statutory right to file a lawsuit under the IIA and allows employers to avoid liability for employee injuries if a human actor is involved in the injury.

Washington has established a clear mandate to protect employees from the dangers and injuries that occur in the work place through the IIA. RCW 51.04 *et seq.* The IIA provides various benefits to injured workers depending on the particular circumstances of each case, including a private right of action if injury results from the deliberate intention of the employer to produce such injury. RCW 51.24.020. 'Deliberate intention' means the employer had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur and willfully disregarded that knowledge. *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 865, 904 P.2d 278 (1995).

The Court of Appeals decision focused solely on the "certainty prong." *See* Appendix, 4-8. The Court of Appeals has rendered an employee's private right of action ineffective if a human actor is involved by concluding that the certainty prong can never be met when a human actor is involved because they exercise volitional control over their actions. *Id.* at 7-8. They further impinged the private right of action and effectively determined that only cases involving chemicals causing injury to employees can proceed to trial by stating "a human actor's behavior

simply does not follow immutable laws of chemistry such as the formaldehyde resin at issue in *Birklid* did." *Id.* at 7.

These holdings do not comport with and are in conflict with court rulings in *Perry v. Beverage*, 121 Wash. 652, 214 P.146 (1922) and *Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage*, 71 Wash. App. 5, 856 P.2d 410 (1993) where human actor's injured employees. They also do not comport with and are in conflict with the analysis in *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995) and *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) as discussed below.

D. The Court of Appeals committed error by expanding the ruling in *Vallandigham* to preclude claims involving a human actor and limiting actions to cases involving chemicals like *Birklid*.

The Court of Appeals used a rigid approach based on an improper application and expansion of *Vallandigham* to determine that there was no certainty. The court in *Vallandigham* concluded that a special needs child's behavior was "far from predictable," because of variables that impacted the student. *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 33–34, 109 P.3d 805, 814 (2005). These variables included whether or not the student had taken a prescribed medication, the school districts increasingly restrictive strategies for bringing the negative behavior under control, and that the school district was in the process of

taking steps to alleviate the risk of injury to its employees *Id*. The *Vallandigham* court concluded the school district did not know at that time that the measures would be ineffective and therefore certainty could not have been certain that staff injuries would continue to occur. *Id*. at 34.

Vallandigham does not preclude employer liability for injuries as a result of human actors. The distinguishing factor in Vallandigham was the fact that the school district was making efforts to address and alleviate the risk to employees by implementing strategies to prevent, if not eliminate, injuries. The court's ruling places the focus on the actions of the employer and considers what the employer knew at the time the injury occurred.

In this case, the DOC's actions were not to alleviate risk but rather to exacerbate the risk. The DOC removed the protections employees had in close custody institutions from violent life-without-parole inmates with a history of assaults and threats to harm staff. Also, there is no evidence that the DOC was trying to get Cruze's behavior under control. There was no remedial action being taken with Cruze as he was not involved in programming because of his history of infractions. CP at 269-270. DOC also manipulated his custody score in order to make it appear like he qualified for medium custody. CP at 304-311. The evidence shown by DOC statements is that Cruze was put in a medium custody unit as there

was nowhere else in the state he could go because his violent actions had precluded him from every maximum security unit in the state. CP at 317-319. These were not steps to alleviate or mitigate risks to employees.

As correctly noted by the Superior Court in this case, the DOC's knowledge and actions create "a unique set of circumstances and risks that are not otherwise present for correction officers who work daily among prison inmates". CP 486-487, CP 490. The unique set of circumstances create a genuine issue of material fact regarding the certainty prong.

The unique set of circumstances are also different than the facts found in *Brame v. W. State Hosp.*, 136 Wn. App. 740, where employees of the state psychiatric hospital sued their employer because of patient assaults.. In *Brame*, the employees did not contend that any specific assault would occur and relied instead on the history of patient-to-staff assaults and the employer implementing a non-violence initiative aimed at eliminating the use of physical restraint of patients. *Id.* at 749-750. The court applied *Valandigham* and found that the foreseeability of assaults did not establish deliberate intention to injure the employees. *Id.*

An important factor that is not present in either *Brame* or *Vallandigham* is specific threats made by the human actor who assaulted the employees and the employer's knowledge of those threats. CP at 327-

331. Not only did the employer know and ignore the threats, they were not documented in the offender's record for DOC employees to see. *See* CP at 60-64. Also pertinent is the fact that a court of law determined, based on his prior violent behavior and the level of certainty to re-offend, the offender could never be returned to public life. Knowing this, the DOC did not take steps to alleviate employee injuries as the employers in *Vallandigham* and *Brame* did.

This case can and does fall under the analysis found in *Birklid v. Boeing Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995). In *Birklid*, a general supervisor wrote to management and informed them that employees got sick from the chemical odors emitted during the pre-production testing of a new product. 127 Wn.2d at 856. Here, Pete Caples called headquarters to object to the transfer of Cruze to medium custody because of his documented violent history. CP at 299-301. Kevin Bowen also objected to Cruze's transfer to medium custody because of his violent history, and there was no custody appropriate viable option within Washington. CP at 317-319. In *Birklid*, the supervisor also said that he anticipated the problems would increase as production increased. 127 Wn.2d at 856. Cruze's behavior was certain because if an offender acts out at a higher custody facility, putting him in a lower custody facility makes it easier for

the offender to continue to act out and harm staff. CP at 260-261. When Pete Caples called headquarters and spoke with Kevin Bowen, Mr. Bowen agreed with CUS Caples and indicated that Cruze should be transferred out of state. CP at 300.

In *Birklid*, management denied the request for improved ventilation and proceeded with full production without any corrective action. 127 Wn.2d at 856. Here, Timothy Thrasher denied the request and Scott Frakes supported the transfer to medium custody. CP 317-319; CP at 276. While in *Birklid*, employees became ill as predicted, here Plaintiffs Johns and Lynch were violently assaulted, as predicted. 127 Wn.2d at 857.

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