FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/18/2018 8:19 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96340-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JONATHAN O., JOHNS, individually, and DAVID W. LYNCH and JENNIFER LYNCH, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS and COYOTE RIDGE CORRECTION CENTER,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Carl P. Warring, WSBA #27164 Heidi S. Holland, WSBA #27264 Assistant Attorneys General 1116 W Riverside, Suite 100 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 456-3123

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

1. The Court of Appeals applied well-settled precedent to find that the employer did not have actual knowledge that injury by a third party was certain to occur

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision has not limited employees' private right of action to only cases involving chemicals. *See* Pet. for Review 10. Rather, it correctly applied longstanding precedent to a situation where two inmates randomly assailed Officer Johns, who "was simply the 'wrong guy at the wrong time." *Johns*, 2018 WL 3359657 at *2.

The Birklid court established a two-part test for determining

"deliberate intention." The test requires an employee to prove, first, that the employer "had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur," and, second, that the employer "willfully disregarded that knowledge." 127 Wn.2d at 865. Washington courts have applied that test to injuries caused by human actors.

In Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 959 P.2d 301 (1998), a fired employee murdered two of his former coworkers. The victims' estates sued and argued the employer "deliberately intended to cause injury to the employees such that the employer's immunity under [IIA] is removed[.]" Id. at 661. The trial court denied the employer's motion for summary judgment, and this Court reversed. This Court held that the employer did not have actual knowledge injury was certain to occur even though the employer hired the murderer knowing his violent criminal record, discontinued the security system, knew the back door did not lock properly, and knew that keeping cash in restaurant may invite robbery. "However negligent these acts might be, the statutory exception to employer immunity . . . requires more." Id. at 667.

The year after *Burger King*, Division 1 decided *Stenger v. Stanwood School Dist.*, 95 Wn. App. 802, 977 P.2d 660 (1999). School district instructional aides sued their employer for injuries suffered while working with a severely disabled special education student. The student had a long

history of "highly aggressive" behavior and of "frequently attacking his teachers and other students." *Id.* at 804-05. The district psychologist advised, "We are unable to provide an appropriate educational placement for [the student] . . . due to the severity of his behavior problems[.]" *Id.* at 806. However, his warning went unheeded, and the student was transferred to the district. *Id.* at 806, 977 P.2d 660. The student's violent behavior continued, and the staff who worked with him—including the plaintiffs—were repeatedly injured.

The trial court granted the school district's motion for summary judgment, citing the IIA as the employees' exclusive remedy. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding there was sufficient evidence to meet the first prong of the *Birklid* test, "that the employer actually knew an injury was certain to occur." *Id.* at 812. In so holding, it noted the student "caused between 1,316 and 1,347 injuries to District staff, inflicting injuries almost on a daily basis." *Id.* at 812. That analysis was later expressly rejected in *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 33, 109 P.3d 805 (2005).

In *Vallandigham*, the Supreme Court held, "[e]ven an admission" by the employer that it recognized that injury would probably occur was "not enough to establish knowledge of *certain* injury." 154 Wn.2d at 33. (emphasis in original). In that case, two employees sued their employer

school district for injuries caused by a severely disabled special education student. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the school district, finding that neither prong of the *Birklid* test had been met. The Court of Appeals disagreed in part, but affirmed summary judgment in favor of the employer, holding that the school district had actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur, but did not disregard that knowledge (i.e., the employees did not meet the second prong of the *Birklid* test). *Id.* at 18.

The school district knew the student's history of unmanageable behavior and violence (he had caused injuries 96 times in one school year), there was a history of workers' compensation claims, and the District admitted it was taking steps to alleviate the risk of injury. The District had even considered alternative placements for the student, "but declined these alternatives because they were inappropriate or unwilling to take [the student]." 154 Wn.2d at 25. On that basis, the Court of Appeals found that the evidence was sufficient for a jury to conclude that, given the student's "known propensity to injure," the school had actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur. 154 Wn.2d at 32.

This Court, however, flatly rejected the Court of Appeals' analysis and emphasized the historically narrow interpretation of RCW 51.24.020. It explained, "foreseeability, *or even substantial certainty*, is not enough

knowledge that injury is *certain* to occur will meet the first prong of the *Birklid* test." *Id.* at 33 (emphasis in original). The Court added the employer in *Birklid* "knew that the [chemical] fumes would continue to make employees sick absent increased ventilation," but, in contrast, "the Clover Park School District could not know what [the student's] behavior would be from day to day." *Id.* at 33 (emphasis in original).

In Birklid, this Court rejected both of the tests Johns and Lynch advance here. This Court explained that under the "substantial certainty" test, "If the injury is substantially certain to occur as a consequence of actions the employer intended, the employer is deemed to have intended the injuries as well." 127 Wn.2d at 864. Alternatively, under the "conscious weighing test," the question is "whether the employer had an opportunity consciously to weigh the consequences of its act and knew that someone, not necessarily the plaintiff specifically would be injured." The Court "decline[d] to adopt" either broad test and instead narrowly interpreted the phrase "deliberate intention" in RCW 51.24.020 to mean the employer "had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur and willfully disregarded that knowledge." 127 Wn.2d at 864-65. In Vallandigham, Supreme Court admonished, "We the overemphasize that the Birklid court considered and rejected both a 'substantial certainty' and a 'conscious weighing' test." 154 Wn.2d at 33, 109 P.3d 805.

Yet, those broad standards are what Johns and Lynch argue support their claim. They argue that their employers' knowledge of the assailants' past behavior equated to actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur, and that DOC therefore should be deemed to have intended the injury as well. They seek to apply the same "substantial certainty" and "conscious weighing" tests the Court rejected in *Birklid* and *Vallandigham*. The Court of Appeals here properly rejected their arguments, specifically and appropriately relying on this Court's decisions in *Birklid* and *Vallandigham*. There is no conflict with any decision of this Court.⁵

The *Vallandigham* court held that "[e]ven an admission [that] injury would probably occur is not enough to establish knowledge of *certain* injury. Only actual knowledge that injury is *certain* to occur will meet the first prong of the *Birklid* test." *Id.* at 33 (emphasis in original). In this case, the Court of Appeals similarly found, "Even if DOC had believed Cruze would act out against corrections officers at [Coyote

⁵ The Court of Appeals decision here also is consistent with *Brame v. Western State Hosp.*, 136 Wn. App. 740, 150 P.3d 637 (2007) (employees injured by psychiatric patients), which also specifically applied the narrow interpretation of the deliberate intention exception set out in *Birklid* and *Vallandigham*. See 136 Wn. App. at 746-50. There is no conflict with any Court of Appeals decision.

Ridge] when he was transferred there, there still was no certainty that he would do so." *Johns*, 2018 WL 3359657 at *3. Because the court found that Johns and Lynch "were unable to satisfy the first prong of the *Birklid* deliberate exception test," it did not need to address the second ("willful disregard") prong and did not do so. *Id.* The Court of Appeals' decision comports with this Court's holdings in *Birklid* and *Vallandigham* that neither substantial certainty of injury nor negligence is sufficient to satisfy the high standard of "deliberate intention."

Finally, Petitioners assert that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with *Perry v. Beverage*, 121 Wn. 652, 214 P. 146 (1922), and *Mason v. Kenyon Zero Storage*, 71 Wn. App. 5, 856 P.2d 410 (1993). Pet. for Review 11. However, both cases involved an employer or its agent physically assaulting an employee and therefore are factually distinguishable. More importantly, both cases predate *Birklid's* establishment of the two-part deliberate intention test.

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law to hold the "deliberate intention" exception did not apply when the employees were unable to show the employer had actual knowledge an injury by a third party was certain to occur. Accordingly, review should be denied.

2. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied Precedent to Conclude That Known Risk of Injury Is Insufficient to Satisfy the Deliberate Intention Test.

Knowledge of *risk* of injury does not satisfy the *Birklid* deliberate intention test. Recently, in *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 181 Wn.2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014), this Court again reaffirmed the *Birklid* test and the rejection of broader tests:

"[D]eliberate intention" is a high standard that is met . . . only when an employer had actual knowledge that an injury was certain to occur. An act that has substantial certainty of producing injury is insufficient to meet that standard. Similarly, negligence—even gross negligence—is not sufficient to meet the "deliberate intention" standard.

Id. at 396-97 (internal citations to Birklid omitted).

At Boeing, Walston had worked with and around asbestos-containing products and inhaled asbestos fibers. In 1985, maintenance workers were repairing pipe insulation in the ceiling above the shop where he worked. The maintenance workers used ventilators and protective clothing, but the employees in the shop continued to work without protection. *Id.* at 394. Boeing conceded that it knew asbestos was a hazardous material and about manifestation of asbestos-related diseases after exposure. The question was whether Boeing had actual knowledge that Walston was certain to be injured by the exposure to asbestos. *Id.* at 395. The Court held that *risk* of injury does not equate to certainty

sufficient to meet the deliberate intention standard. Id. at 398.

Yet, knowledge of *risk* of injury is precisely what Johns and Lynch argue should result in DOC's liability. They allege that not only did DOC know that the inmate posed a risk, it exacerbated the risk by placing Cruze at Coyote Ridge. Their argument "impermissibly erodes the requirement of 'deliberate intent,'" *Vallandigham*, 154 Wn.2d at 35, and stands in opposition to the well-settled law of Washington that "a risk of injury is insufficient to meet the deliberate intention standard," *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 398.

Johns and Lynch further argue that DOC knew of the unique risk posed by Cruze, which was not present for other correction officers. Pet. for Review 13. The plaintiff in *Walston* pointed to a similar scenario. Boeing required shop employees to continue to work during the pipe repair while "asbestos was flaking and falling from the overhead pipes." *Walston v. Boeing Co.*, 173 Wn. App. 271, 274, 294 P.3d 759 (2013), *aff'd* 181 Wn.2d 391, 334 P.3d 519 (2014). Because Boeing did not provide protection from asbestos exposure, he and other shop workers were uniquely exposed to risks that the maintenance workers, who wore protective clothing and respirators, were not. Nonetheless, the court found that the increased risk of harm did not amount to deliberate intention.

Johns and Lynch point to alleged threats of violence made by

Cruze. However, this Court has expressly rejected the argument that even a "known propensity to injure" is sufficient to establish actual knowledge that injury was certain to occur. *Vallandigham*, 154 Wn.2d at 33, 109 P.3d 805. Further, a threat is not a certainty. In fact, prior to the September 2012 incident, Cruze had not assaulted an employee for over four years, and before that, not since 2005. That stands in stark contrast to the 96 injuries in one school year in *Vallandigham* or the almost daily injuries in *Stenger*. In *Vallandigham* and *Stenger*, the regularity of the assaultive behavior made injuries predictable. Yet, "the first prong of the *Birklid* test can be met in only very limited circumstances where continued injury is not only substantially certain but *certain* to occur." *Johns*, 2018 WL 3359657 at *3.

Essentially, Johns and Lynch argue that DOC was grossly negligent in placing Cruze in a medium custody facility. "Mak[ing] it easier for the offender" to act out may increase the *risk*, but it does not convert a risk to a certainty. Further, the *Walston* court expressly rejected a similar argument. "An act that has substantial certainty of producing injury is insufficient . . . even substantial certainty that employee injury will occur *by virtue of an employer's action (or inaction)* is insufficient.

⁶ The two non-injury assaults were on 5/10/2005 and 3/6/2008. CP at 60-64.

⁷ Pet. for Review 14.

Disregard of risk of injury is not sufficient" Walston, 181 Wn.2d at 396-97 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

"Certainty leaves no room for chance. Washington courts have repeatedly held that known *risk* of harm or carelessness is not enough to establish certain injury, even when the risk is substantial." *Shellenbarger* v. Longview Fibre Co., 125 Wn. App. 41, 46, 103 P.3d 807 (2004). The Court of Appeals properly applied *Birklid, Vallandigham*, and *Walston* to conclude that substantial certainty of injury is insufficient to satisfy the deliberate exception test. There is no conflict warranting review under RAP 13.4(b). Review should accordingly be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals' Applied Clear Precedent to Facts Viewed in the Light Most Favorable to Petitioner Employees to Resolve a Dispute Between Them and Their Employer.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court. As "[i]n any appeal from a summary judgment ruling, [the] court engage[d] in a *de novo* review; [its] inquiry [was] the same as the trial court's inquiry." *Johns*, 2018 WL 3359657 at *2. However, Johns and Lynch argue that the Court of Appeals must have ignored facts because "DOC employees face a certain level of *risk* every day." Pet. for Review 17 (emphasis added). They protest that every fact, including the allegedly negligent placement of Cruze at Coyote Ridge, demonstrates the "increased *risk*." Pet. For Review 2, 18 (emphasis

added).

"[V]iew[ing] the facts, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them, in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party," the Court of Appeals acknowledged the nature of the offenders' crimes, their infraction histories, and that Coyote Ridge was "an institution that was not designed to provide the close custody that [Cruze] needed...." *Johns*, 2018 WL 3359657 at *1-3. However, for over two decades, the law of Washington has been that neither knowledge of risk of injury, substantial certainty, nor "even gross negligence" is sufficient to satisfy the high standard of "deliberate intention." *Walston*, 181 Wn.2d at 396-97, 334 P.3d 519. The Court of Appeals viewed the facts in the light most favorable to Johns and Lynch, and then applied well-settled law. Its resolution of the dispute between the parties does not merit this Court's review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied RCW 51.04.010 and 51.24.020. The unanimous unpublished decision applies the well-settled law articulated by this this Court in *Birklid, Vallandigham*, and *Walston*, and it does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of

⁸ The petition asserts that "all four grounds for review" in RAP 13.4(b) are satisfied, but the petition makes no argument at all regarding RAP 13.4(b)(3) (constitutional question) or RAP 13.4(b)(4) (substantial public interest). The Court therefore need not consider those grounds for review.

Appeals. Therefore, there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), and the petition does not even attempt to justify review under the other subsections of RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.